

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board

Monday 14th December 2020 at 5.00 pm

Present:Councillor E M Giles (Chair)
Councillors Piper (Vice-Chair), Carmichael, Costigan,
Hackett, Hartwell and Phillips.

Officers: Lisa McNally, Director of Public Health; Neil Cox, Director of Adult Social Care; Michelle Carolan. Managing Director, Sandwell and Black Country CCG; Sarbjit Basi, Director of Primary Care, Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG; Lisa Maxfield, Deputy Chief Officer Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG David Carruthers, Medical Director and Acting Chief **Executive Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS** Trust: Ruth Wilkin, Communications Director Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust; Sue Redmond, Independent Chair Sandwell Safeguarding Adults Board: Deb Ward, Sandwell Safeguarding Adults Board Manager; John Taylor, Chair Healthwatch Sandwell; David Bradshaw, Healthwatch Sandwell.

22/20 Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Jarvis.

23/20 Minutes

It was noted that due to a connectivity issue at the start of the last meeting Councillor Carmichael was not recorded as being in



attendance and that the minutes should be updated to reflect that she was present.

Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 14th September 2020 be approved as a correct record subject to Councillor Carmichael being included on the attendance record.

20/20 Primary Care Access

The Director of Primary Care and Deputy Chief Officer presented an update relating to primary care access.

The Board noted that the CCG was working closely with NHS England (Midlands), to ensure that primary care was 'open' particularly during this challenging time. The Board noted that primary care was working in a different way across the Midlands and nationally. There had been a shift to use a range of approaches, such as telephone consultations and remote access to primary care.

The Board noted that there were issues across the wider system, such as urgent access to primary care and GP providers offering some elements of face to face consultations, but using remote and digital options where possible, taking account of both patient and staff safety. There had been an increase in staff sickness in primary care teams across the area and this was being managed carefully.

The Board noted that work had been paused in a number of areas particularly, secondary care, elective work, tests and diagnostics and that this had an effect on what primary care could and could not do, but the aim was to carry out business as usual.

The Board noted that the first vaccines had been administered today in primary care in Halesowen, which was testament to how hard primary care providers were working to balance the activity on the vaccine programme with keeping business running as normal as possible, although it was working differently.

The Board noted that the CCG was continuing to monitor the situation and were working closely with CCG Chairs, Primary Care

Network and Clinical Directors to make sure that the communication and the message was clear that primary care was open for business.

The Deputy Chief Officer provided an update on the Sandwell practices which would be vaccinating.

- In the first wave one site for Sandwell 'Your Health Partnership' would be going live on Wednesday 16th December 2020, vaccinating over 80 year old patients of their practice(s).
- Two other sites going live by the end of the week.

The following was noted in response to comments and questions:

- In terms of concerns and enquiries from residents, about access to doctor's surgeries, it was noted that there were difficulties for public access to surgeries at this time and most consultations were via phone or video link. Any specific issues or practices causing concern, were being discussed with Healthwatch colleagues.
- The vaccination programme detail was confidential at this time. Sites in Sandwell were not being announced and communications around sites were currently embargoed. This was due to the security aspects and managing patient's expectations. Information was being released and communicated when authority to do so was given.
- Due to the speed of the vaccine delivery, patients were currently being telephoned to book an appointment. As the vaccine programme progressed into waves 2,3 and 4, more letters would be sent to patients.
- Press communications would be considered moving forward, but currently communications had been controlled due to security aspects on the vaccine.
- When determining how to roll out the vaccine, the Board was advised that GP Practices had lists and age groups of patients and the information had been collated. The practices would then contact the patients individually to ask if they wanted to come in for a vaccine, this would be co-ordinated by the primary care networks (PCN) in Sandwell: PCN were groups of practices coming together collaboratively. There were a number of patients who did not want the vaccine.

- In terms of logistical challenges, the CCG was assessing the fitness of sites to go live, to make sure they were ready and staffed appropriately.
- Not all practices at that time were contacting patients, it was being rolled out in waves of PCNs, wave one went live on 15th December, the next waves on 17th and 18th December. Roll out would be incremental because of the way the vaccine was delivered, it was not the same as flu vaccination and could not be provided in the same numbers. All patients would be offered the vaccine, but it would be provided in waves.
- The Managing Director confirmed that there were eight PCNs across Sandwell, some PCNs decided to deliver in their own estates (wave one), others agreed to collaborate in a community aspect which required more logistics to find and set up sites, check or get approvals, all of which needed collaborative planning.
- A 'Vaccine Cell' had been established under the auspices of the Local Authority Incident Management Team, including partners and the Council to share information about potential sites, to consider estates in both health and social care, to ensure the sites met requirements and necessary specifications/ registrations before sharing the sites.
- PCN sites for vaccinations were being communicated by the CCG.

The Chair thanked the Director of Primary Care, CCG for the presentation and it was agreed:

Resolved:

 That a primary care access update report be requested to the next meeting of the Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board.

21/20 Reset and Recovery Update

The Director of Protection and Prevention presented an update on adult social care in terms of reset and recovery to the Board. The Board noted that Covid was very much a live issue for Adult Social Care Services, dominating day to day work and activity.

- Clinically extremely vulnerable persons were being supported, with proactive calls being made to vulnerable people to establish level of support and to respond to referrals from the National Shielding Register.
- The winter grant had been launched which provided financial support to families with children, individuals and vulnerable households (December - March). The Council had been allocated £1.4 million to make grants to local people. There was a massive logistical issue to get the scheme up and running and thanks was given to staff who had worked on getting the logistics right. There had been 600 applications in just over a week and the emphasis was on processing applications in a timely and efficient manner.
- Lateral Flow Testing kits were being rolled out across care homes and care settings nationally in terms of size, there were very few homes and care settings in Sandwell that had received kits so far, but more were expected later that week.
- Advice and support was being provided to care homes and care settings as and when it was being received, including advice on lateral care testing and visits to care homes. Training, testing and risk assessments were being undertaken to mitigate risks in care homes to the workforce, the visitors and the residents.
- Infection Control Fund second round funding had been distributed to support care providers and to reduce the spread of infection in the delivery of care.
- Support and monitoring of the market was in place to monitor the impact of the pandemic on care providers and to do everything possible to identify issues early, to support and be flexible with providers in terms of payment terms and contract conditions.
- 'Discharge to assess model' in hospitals was being implemented, supporting discharges to keep the flow of patients moving at a difficult time of the year.
- Day care centres remained closed, but alternative methods of support were being put in place with a mind to safely re-open day centres as soon as practicable.
- Support over the festive period was different to normal due to the circumstances, additional contingencies were being put in place and responding to different levels of need and support.
- Planning for winter was ongoing, to be ready for snow and the implications for care delivery, especially transporting in vehicles and putting in place risk assessments.

- There was a need to be prepared for the continuing pressures of Covid and the financial pressures on the Council.
- Changing demands of customers, sustainability of provision and choice of care provision in the market was being monitored.
- The impact of mental health and social isolation was being monitored and the pressures around safeguarding and domestic abuse referrals.
- The Council was preparing for the debate around health and social care services moving closer together and what that may look like in Sandwell.

The Director of Public Health reported that case rates in Sandwell were relatively good, 60th highest in the country per 100,000 around 80 per 100,000, but there were signs of case rates rising again. Public Health was at a very busy period and was preparing to make sure new initiatives around health protection response, the lateral flow testing and the vaccination uptake were being rolled out and maximised.

The Board noted concerns around the numbers of people out in shops and the break in restrictions over Christmas where households would be coming together more and had concerns that this would have a serious impact on infections rates. The Board noted the challenging weeks ahead in terms of the staying on message, reminding local population that although the future was hopeful, the next four to five weeks would be the most crucial of the pandemic in determining outcomes for Sandwell.

The following was noted in response to comments and questions:

- In relation to the winter grant the announcement of financial help to vulnerable households was welcomed. It was noted that people could apply on line and that there was a phone line dedicated to enquiries. It was suggested that it may be beneficial to proactively target people who were vulnerable and eligible for the grant. The Director advised that Revenues and Benefits Team held information to identify and advise residents about the winter grant. The Director agreed to take that point back to the relevant team.
- Out of the 600 applicants for winter grant so far, the Director advised that there was an agreement in place with paypoint

registered sites and also that vouchers could be issued to receive payments.

- It would be confirmed how many applicants had been received the grant already and how quickly the payment had been made. The Board recognised that it was important to get a response to the claimant as quickly as possible.
- In terms of lateral flow tests in care homes, it was confirmed that the primary use of the lateral flow tests was for visitors initially. The tests were not as sensitive as PCR tests but gave an indication of a positive or negative result and would be used in conjunction with social distancing and PPE. PCR tests were used for residents, who were receiving 4 tests per resident per week. The right tests would be used for the right scenario.
- The Director advised that there were currently 1289 people in residential care, 520 in nursing homes and 719 non-nursing care homes. An assurance was given to the Board that the numbers had been submitted and that the number of tests supplied would match those numbers, essentially that there would not be a shortage of tests in homes for residents, visitors and staff.
- Infection Control Fund had been allocated on the basis of how many people the providers were supporting. There were also private providers in the Borough, the Council did not commission all providers. Payments had to be allocated within 21 days and were based on the returns received from the providers. The exact figures of what had been allocated would be forwarded to Board Members.
- Risk assessments for visitors going into care homes would be carried out by the care home and guidance had been sent to all homes. Care homes had the go ahead to allow visitors, it was up to the care home when to progress, dependent on meeting the following set criteria – they had to submit risk assessments and carry out lateral flow tests for visitors.
- In terms of day centres for clients with learning disabilities it was confirmed that no day centres were open, due to client vulnerabilities around health. Individual packages had been put in place for more tailored support, there were ongoing discussions about how to re-open centres. The Reset and Recovery Board was continuing to meet on a two-weekly basis, risk assessments were in place and effective to inform services.
- The Council was talking to neighbouring authorities about opening day centres and doing that in a planned way,

approaches were being considered to ensure that when centres did re-open there was a full risk assessment and that it was done in a safe way.

The Chair thanked the Directors for the update presentation and responses to questions.

22/20 Restoration Plan Update

The Board noted a presentation update from the Managing Director, Sandwell and Black Country CCG relating to the Restoration and Recovery plan.

The CCG carried out a weekly restoration and recovery meeting for all services and a system level meeting of the Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) footprint, including local authority, Public Health and partners across the Black Country to ensure that services were in sync and that a joined approach was maintained to consider all providers delivery and services.

The Board noted that Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG had endeavoured to keep services going for residents and continued where possible with routine activity. The challenge had been that people did not want to come back into a clinical setting, especially with the risk to some more vulnerable cohorts. There had been a need to communicate and assure people that it was safe to visit the environment and messages were shared to say it was safe. The numbers attending clinical setting were returning to more regular levels.

The reset element had highlighted that working practices had moved forward rapidly, particularly the remote access and information sharing with partners. The most powerful message was about the inequalities in Sandwell and how to take the learning and embed that learning into service planning to make a difference to local people.

The Chair thanked the Managing Director for her presentation and agreed to take questions following the next presentation from the Hospital Trust.

23/20 Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospital Trust Update

The Board noted a presentation from the Chief Medical Officer and Interim Director, Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospital Trust.

The main points highlighted were:

- There had been more admissions to hospitals since the first wave, 1/3rd of patients admitted had Covid.
- Intensive care was over normal capacity levels and as a result of numbers of beds in use and staffing levels, some routine surgical procedures had been scaled down.
- 610 people had sadly died.
- The number of staff off sick with Covid had risen.
- Comparing wave 1 to wave 2 in demographics, slightly more Asian patients had been admitted, the gender split was 50:50, but the big change was the age band of patients admitted, there was a younger age group being admitted in wave 2.
- High levels of patients with existing conditions such as high blood pressure and diabetes had been admitted, in the first wave 30% of patients admitted had died, in the second wave it had reduced to 13%. The difference in the second wave was that many patients were younger, there was a change in use of medications and treatments and the outcomes were better.
- All patients were tested on admission.
- Virtual and telephone consultations were ongoing, and some diagnostics were carried out at Birmingham treatment centre at City site, a green and non-covid site, some services were more complicated to carry out.
- Some off-site services were being moved back to City site.
- Lateral testing was being carried out on staff. The Trust was working to help reduce the risk of infections to staff and patients and masks were being worn at all times.
- The message to patients was to attend for diagnostics and outpatient appointments, it was safe to attend.
- Visiting was still restricted. The message was to continue to use hand gel and social distancing.

In response to comments and questions the Board noted that all visitors and staff were asked about symptoms as they entered the hospital, they were given a mask and asked to use hand gel. The Chair thanked the Hospital Trust for its professional approach to care and precautions for patients, and for the excellent care that was being given.

24/20 Sandwell Safeguarding Adults Annual Report

The Board noted a presentation from the Sandwell Safeguarding Adults Board Manager relating to the Safeguarding Adults Board Annual report 2018-19 and activities carried out by the Board in 2020. It was noted that this had been an extremely challenging year in adult social care.

The main points highlighted were:

- There had been a Board refresh and revised governance arrangements;
- The annual report had been co-produced with partners;
- The Board continued to represent Sandwell at regional and national levels.
- There had been an appointment of a development officer to engage frontline staff and service users.
- The Boards three sub groups reviewed learning and monitored trends and key information in safeguarding.
- Data monitoring showed that the number of referrals being made were increasing, and more of those became a full safeguarding investigation. Referrals were appropriate, being acted on and investigated thoroughly.
- Messages about safeguarding were having an impact on numbers and in 93% of safeguarding enquiries the risk was reduced or removed. People said that support services helped them to feel safe.
- Since the pandemic started the Board had changed ways of working and partners were engaging virtually. At the beginning some work of the Board had paused briefly but use of IT had moved forward and key messages about safeguarding had been created quickly and distributed to a wider footprint.
- SSAB had hosted an event about challenges in preparing for adulthood and exploitation, people were less visible and there was a need to highlight the risks.
- There was a number of task and finish groups focusing on adults with learning difficulties.

- Learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs) was a statutory duty of the Board. Five reviews had been identified in 2020, emerging themes were outlined in the presentation and there would be some key learning points across the partnership.
- A thematic review had been commissioned with experts, this was an exciting opportunity for Sandwell.
- In January 2021 a development session had been arranged involving all partners to agree and set priorities for the year.

The following was noted in response to comments and questions:

- SARs were a detailed investigation and report looking at the circumstances as it related to the death or serious injury of an individual. The SAR looked specifically if partners or agencies could have worked better together to better safeguard. It outlined key areas for learning and was monitored by Protection Sub Group and reported to the Board.
- The Board was looking at an audit programme to try to get key information about a person's qualitative experience.
- With regard to the questions raised for clarification in the report the Manager undertook to respond to the members directly.

The Chair thanked officers for the presentation and it was agreed:

Resolved:

1) That the Sandwell Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 2018-19 be received.

25/20 Joint Health and Adult Social Care and Children's Services Scrutiny Board - Mental Health Support

The Chair thanked all Members who participated in the joint special meeting to consider Mental Support.

The Chair advised that the following reports requested by the joint Board fell under the remit of the Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board and would be included in the work programme for 2021-22:

- A report relating to Acute Paediatric Children's Beds;
- A report relating to triage for Child Mental Health;
- A detailed report relating to CAMHS.

It was suggested that members of the Children's Services and Education Scrutiny Board be invited to the meeting when the items were considered.

The Chair thanked all Members for their attendance at the meeting and wished them all a Happy Christmas and New Year.

Meeting ended at 6.45 pm

Democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk